
White Plains Public Schools 
EDUCATION HOUSE 

FIVE HOMESIDE LANE 
WHITE PLAINS, NEW YORK 10605 

914-422-2072 (P) 
914-422-2297 (F) 

 

 
 Toni Russo 

PURCHASING AGENT 

 tonirusso@wpcsd.k12.ny.us 
 

June 24, 2024 

 

 

ADDENDUM #3 RFP- PUPIL TRANSPORTATION SERVICES 

2025-2026, 2026-2027, AND 2027-2028 SCHOOL YEARS 

   

The following questions were received from proposers with the response in red: 

 

QUESTIONS: 

1. Can you please distribute a revised RFP without the encryption, preferably in MS 

word, if possible, to allow proposers to search and copy segments in order to 

facilitate due diligence and ease of completing forms electronically. 

 

PDF that was provided is searchable and, when downloaded into Adobe software, 

the “fill & sign” function can be utilized. 

 

2. Page 7, first paragraph and page 18 item 4.  We understand the RFP requests 3 

distinct proposals for home to school, summer school, and field and athletic trips.  

Is one set of original proposal binders and 4 supporting documents acceptable per 

company and only separate proposal pricing and bond forms for each of the 

proposals acceptable.  Or are you requiring a separate set of proposal binders and 

supporting material for the 3 proposals required (school year, summer, and trips) 

which could require up to 15 submissions per proposer?  

 

A proposer does not have to submit proposals for all three areas.   If a proposer 

chooses to do so, one set of original proposal binders and supporting documents 

per company is sufficient so long as separate proposal pricing and bond forms are 

provided. 

 

3. Page 7, second paragraph, first four sentences.  This notes the district may provide 

properties whereby the district provides storage of buses.  Can you provide more 

clarification as to what proposers should expect to be provided by the district.  Will 

the district provided facility include a building for operations office, training, and 

bays for fleet maintenance, a full-service site, or is the district providing only 

parking for bus storage and proposers would need to provide a fleet maintenance 

and repair shop?   
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Only storage for buses i.e., parking lot space.  As stated previously, the District is 

evaluating its currently owned resources in order to provide additional parking for 

buses. 

 

4. Page 7, second paragraph, first four sentences.  Can you please clarify the practice 

today and location of the existing contractor facilities.   

 

The current provider National Express has their Bus Depot at 14 Fisher Lane, White 

Plains, NY 10603.   Both operations and parking of the majority of buses are at that 

location. Additionally, National Express leases property from the District for 

storage of buses at Rochambeau Alternative High School, 228 Fisher Lane, White 

Plains, NY.  

 

a. Does the district or towns have any facility space available for contractors 

to lease? 

 

Yes, we currently lease a portion of a school parking lot to our current 

provider.  As stated previously, the District is evaluating its owned 

resources in order to provide additional parking for buses. 

 

5. Page 8, fourth paragraph.  Would the district consider extending the RFP due date 

to at least 7/26/24 allowing non-incumbent contractors time to conduct locate 

suitable facilities to serve the district and then conduct due diligence to formulate 

hypothetical routes and locate suitable facilities to serve the district?   

 

This can be addressed at the Mandatory Proposers meeting on June 26, 2024, at 10 

am. 

 

a. Alternatively, if the district committed that they would provide a full-

service facility this would eliminate significant barriers and unknowns 

allowing a non-incumbent proposer to focus on fleet acquisition and 

customer service plan for the district.   

 

The District is not offering a full-service facility. Only bus storage. 

  

6. Page 7, Third paragraph.  This notes the district intents to award contract in August 

2024 and notes that the district would still need to obtain voter approval in May 

2025 for a mutli-year contract.  With that is the district planning to accept proposals 

with a differing pricing structure for an initial three-year term that would change to 

a higher unit price if the contract were awarded and later has to revert to a three-

year contract?  Proposers will typically have the same upfront startup and transition 

costs and if the length of the contract term reduces their cost allocations into the 

unit price would need to increase for a shorter term.  



 

Understood, but the RFP is put out a year early to allow start-up time and the intent 

is to award a three-year agreement and, if voter approval is not obtained, then a 

one-year agreement will be awarded with the ability to extend. 

 

7. Page 8, fourth paragraph, regarding RFP due date. Given the proximity to question 

submission the fourth of July holiday week and the spirit of allowing time for the 

district to process and provide information and time for proposers to process the 

information response, would the district be open to extending the date to July 26th?  

This allows two weeks for district to process and release remaining questions by 

7/12 and two weeks for proposers to have info and respond by 7/26. 

 

This can be addressed at the Mandatory Proposers meeting on June 26, 2024, at 10 

am. 

 

8. Page 11, regarding RFP Scoring Criteria.  The general guidelines for RFP scoring 

in items 4, 5, and 6 are typical reports retrieved from the NY State Department of 

Motor Vehicles. The question 6 notes that reports are to be from all terminals in 

region 08 Hudson Valley.   

To clarify are you expecting the information from questions 4 and 5 to be limited 

to data from terminals in the region 08 Hudson Valley?   

 

No, we are asking for all information related to NYS for Questions 4&5. 

 

9. Page 12, item 8.  Would certified financial statements from a NY operator’s parent 

company be sufficient to meet the criteria? 

Financial Statements should be that of the legal entity making the proposal.   

 

10. Page 13, item 11.  Regarding the weighting of price for proposal scoring.  How will 

proposals with the district providing facility be evaluated against the proposals 

where contractor is providing the facility? Does the district have a preference as to 

the facility? 

a. Will the future award be dependent on if the district will be able provide the 

facility.  As example given that district site is not confirmed.  Will a 

proposer who has an existing facility be given preference over one without 

a site of their own, absent of other scoring? 

 

Most likely.     

b. Will the scoring on the pricing for each proposal be weighted separately 

with and without district facility for all proposers? 



Yes   

11. Page 14, fifth bullet, page 19 item 7 b, and Page 112 Reference List.   

a. The page 112 has three rows for references and then asks for a list of all 

references.  Do you want the name and contact of all applicable school 

districts as references?   

 

Yes. Additional sheets can be added when the available space on the form 

is not sufficient. 

b. For proposers who also have sister operating companies in the state.  Do 

you want to know about those districts served by a sister company as well?  

Or just the proposing company’s performance?   

Just the proposing company.  

12. Page 15, second paragraph. This notes the district plans to reduce the routes needed 

and expected from 110 routes in 2023-24 school year to 94 routes in 2025-26.  This 

is nearly a 15% reduction.  Can you clarify what is being done to reduce routes?  

Are you changing bell times and potentially increasing the anticipated length of the 

routes for driver payroll?  

The district is anticipating changing the bell time for one of the five elementary 

schools to align all elementary school bell times to reduce the number of total buses 

needed to operate each tier.   This should have no impact on the length of routes. 

 

13. Page 15, fourth paragraph.  For the facility provided by the district.  Does the 

proposer assume the district is providing all recurring expenses including all 

utilities and related facility expenses at no rental or lease cost to the district? 

No, we are proposing to provide a lease for the storage of vehicles by the contractor 

on district property at a fair market value rate.   

14. Page 17, third paragraph. Regarding proposer to provide internet and email 

services.  Will the district provide these services for district provided facility?  

No, the District will not provide internet and email services to the proposer leasing 

a District owned property for bus storage.  

 

15. Page 17, fifth paragraph and Page 33 item 5, writing to clarify your minimum full-

time staff expectations for the entire operation.  Do you require a Terminal 

Manager, one or more dispatchers, 19a examiner, school bus instructor, safety 

officer, and road supervisor.  Are you expecting six full time staff?  How many 

dispatchers are you requiring?   

 



A Terminal Manager is required, plus one or more dispatchers on duty ½ hour prior 

to first AM run and ½ hour after the last PM run.   Any and all staff can be both 

19A and SBDI certified.  

16. Page 17, fifth paragraph and Page 33 item 5, what are the full-time positions offered 

and provided by the current contractor?   Are they sufficient to meet your needs?   

The current provider serves more than the District and has multiple staff serving 

their customers.  We believe they have the following: Operations manager, terminal 

manager, five dispatchers, safety, and road supervisors.  

 

17. Page 17, fifth paragraph.  Can  you please provide a copy of the labor agreement, 

any amendments, or memorandums of understanding for current contractor(s) 

employees and any district employees performing transportation services that are 

unionized.  Please include any amendment letters, memorandums of understanding, 

or modifications thereto.  

 

The District does not possess the labor agreement of its current transportation 

provider.    

  

18. Page 20, item 7 c.  Regarding the documentation of financial approvals or financial 

resources.  Would a letter from the company CFO be sufficient?  If not, can you 

please clarify the requirement. 

 

As the paragraph states, proof of ownership, or pending financing and ability to 

deliver the offered number of school buses under this RFP. 

 

19. Page 20, item 7. f. can you clarify do you want the Bus net scores for past two 

periods.  Or do you want for the past three years? BUSNET. 

 

 Previous three years.    

 

20. Page 20, item 7. f. Regarding bus net scores from all companies that are currently 

or previously owned by the company.  If the proposing company has sister 

companies that are not owned by the proposing company, do you want the Busnet 

score information for those entities? 

 

As stated in the RFP. 

 

21. Page 21, item 10 c.  Can you clarify what you are expecting on a lease for fair 

market value?  This is an extremely variable cost item depending on facility 

offering, age of facility, and retrofit costs.  We should all be basing the facility rent 

of district facility on the same cost or  no cost to proposer.  Any costs charged for 



rent will be marked up and passed through to the district.  We recommend you 

provide this number or remove the application of rent to a district facility.  

 

We currently receive a monthly rental of $5,250 for 35 vehicles.  We are required 

to charge fair market value according to Education Law and the lease value will be 

determined based on the property(ies) to be leased.  

 

22. Page 23, item 10, f, i.  This notes we are to use 187 days of service for award 

calculation. Can you clarify that proposers should expect to be paid for a minimum 

of 187 days per year?  How many are superintendent meeting days or snow days 

built into calendar? 

 

We are not paying on a per-day basis, the request is for a school year annual cost 

per bus.  

 

23. Page 23, item 10, f, ii.  This notes we are to use 187 days of service for summer 

award calculation. Can you clarify the number of days expected for summer and 

also the revised number of days for summer award calculation?  Typically, we see 

20-30 days depending on your ESY. 

 

Thank you, this is an error should read 30 school days for summer. 

 

24. Page 24 item. 10. h. Notes the district can operate its own busses or can use other 

contractors.  Does the district use multiple contractors or its own buses?  If so, can 

you provide a briefing as to how services split up.   

 

Currently, the District does not have multiple vendors or utilize its own buses. The 

District reserves the right to have multiple vendors and reserves the right to 

piggyback on the transportation services of other school districts and/or BOCES 

when available.  

25. Page 24, item 14.  Can you clarify if there will be a public opening of the proposals 

where pricing submitted will be read or shared with attendees at the date and time 

of the RFP? 

The District will not open and read proposals publicly.   

 

26. Page 26, item 20, page 47 item 4, page 56 item 14. Page 68 item 26, 1.  Given the 

district has significant pending volume change reductions projected at 15% and 

other potential uncertainties that could occur during the life of the contract would 

the district be open to establishing a renegotiation if the volume changes by 10%? 

 

No. 



27. Page 27, item 2.  Notes wheelchair buses are to have 4 wheelchair spots. Can you 

clarify the minimum number of ambulatory student seats needed along with four 

wheelchairs to verify the design of the wheelchair bus.  

The District has one route that could have up to four wheelchair students, a total of 

three additional seats would be needed.  

 

28. Page 27, item 2. Notes air conditioning may be required for big buses during 

summer school.  Can you clarify the anticipated number of big bus summer routes?  

The District anticipates needing a total of 10 big buses during the summer.  

 

29. Page 29, item 9 b.  This notes the district desires to have video retrieval within one 

hour.  This is unrealistic unless the district desires to have live video streaming 

access which is very costly as it requires recurring cellular connection and other 

equipment and is not typical.  Can you clarify do you want live video streaming 

and retrieval?  We generally see video requests to be made withing 48 hours or 

sometimes 24 hours, with clause as soon as possible for urgent mandated reporter 

scenarios.  Can you please review to determine if you are expecting the immediate 

request or can accept typical industry response time.  The response time is needed 

to allow the bus to return from routes and time for supervisors to retrieve and review 

video to locate desired segments.   

 

The District does not need live access to video footage. The footage can be shared 

using a shared drive (established by the District) within one hour of the bus 

returning to the yard. This is considered reasonable within the industry.  

 

30. Page 30 item 14.  This notes a student ridership tracking system with cards is 

required.  Do you have a system today?  Is it Zonar Zpass?  Will Zonar Zpass satisfy 

requirement since you are requiring Zonar GPS?   

 

Yes, the District uses ZONAR ZPASS.  

 

31. Page 30, item 16.  Can you clarify the count of car seats, harnesses, etc. anticipated? 

   

A total of 10 to 15 Starr booster/car seat and harnesses are anticipated.  

32. Page 17, item a. Are lap belt seatbelts acceptable or do you require three-point 

belts?   

Lap belts suffice, pending any changes in legislation. 

a. Do you require three-point belts today?  

No, we do not.  



33. Page 31 item 18.  Is the district participating in the Bus Patrol stop arm camera 

program or would you do so moving forward?   

At the present time, the District is not participating in a Stop Arm Camera Program.  

It is anticipated that the City of White Plains will be entering an agreement with a 

stop arm vendor in the near future.  The District plans to participate in a Stop Arm 

Camera Program when one is available.   

 

34. Page 31, item 4. As it relates to a district provided facility. Are you solely providing 

parking?  Does contractor need to source an office and bus maintenance facility?  

The District is solely providing parking.  

 

35. Page 31, Section 4.  Regarding fuel does the district provide any fuel at lower cost 

to contractor?  Would the district be open to providing or paying the fuel directly 

to offer lower cost of operations to district? 

   

The District will not provide fuel. 

 

36. Page 31, section 4. Given that the contractor is required to provide all fuel.  Can the 

district please provide the average total daily miles for each of the routes and bus 

types and similar for summer school.  Also, can you please provide the total miles 

utilized historically for field and athletic trips.  

 

The District is providing the available information responsive to this request on 

separate sheets included in the Addendum providing the answers to these questions.    

***SEE ATTACHED  

 

37. Page 33, item 7 last sentence.  This notes district must be interviewed and approved 

by the district.  Can you clarify if this is required as it is not typical.  This would 

add another step and potential delay in processing candidates.  Can you clarify if 

the district does this today and wants this.  Typically, the removal clause allowing 

district to remove from service as you have stated in item 4 on page 33 is the typical 

language.  

 

Superintendent’s approval (8 NYCRR 156.3(b)(1)) “Approval for employment as 

a school bus driver shall be in writing on a form prescribed by the Commissioner 

of Education.” Approval by the Superintendent of Schools is required for both 

district-employed and contract drivers, including regular, substitute, and occasional 

drivers. This is an industry norm (& district practice) and required by the District 

for all drivers, monitors, and attendants.  Interviews of drivers are part of the 

District’s practice to secure approval of drivers. 

 



38. Page 34 item 11 a.  To verify are the spare drivers allowed to cover for absenteeism 

as this is also their typical use, otherwise are you requiring an additional 

contingency above this 10%?  

 

The District requires the number of spares to not be less than 10% of the number 

of drivers required to transport students to and from school. Spare drivers are 

allowed to cover absenteeism.  

 

39. Page 35 item 13, regarding bus attendants are you requiring they be able to “lift”  

any student which may be an unreasonable expectation versus requiring they be 

able provide physical assistance to and from the bus seat?  

 

Attendants must pass a physical performance test that requires a weight drag of 

125lbs, 30 feet in 30 seconds. This is a reasonable request.  

40. Page 35 item 14 b. This clause supersedes the state requirements for initial and 

biennial physicals and could add additional cost and potential delay in processing 

candidates at the important time prior to start of school year that is in high demand 

to process new candidates.  We suggest that the district eliminate and follow 

state/federal requirements.  

 This clause speaks to physical prior to beginning service i.e., “initial” physical.  

 

41. Page 39 item aa.  Are the two dry runs paid by district?  

 

No, the District does not pay for dry runs.  

 

42. Page 42, item 10.  Does the district permit sharing with other districts today?  Do 

you share any costs?  

The District does permit sharing, contingent on the sharing of related costs.  

However, the District is not sharing any routes at this time with other school 

districts.  

 

43. Page 44, item 5.  Notes that the school year is based on 180 days, however earlier 

you noted 187. Can you please clarify the anticipated minimum student days needed 

per year?  

The clause indicates a minimum of 180 students’ days, with the actual year to be 

determined by the District annually through the adoption of the annual calendar. 

 

44. Page 46, item 2.  Regarding middays.  Can you clarify how many middays and the 

average live time and miles for each midday?  The middays require additional 

payroll and fuel, and information is needed to build into the hypothetical routing. 



 

The District is providing the available information responsive to this request on 

separate sheets included in the Addendum providing the answers to these questions. 

***SEE ATTACHED 

 

a. Please also clarify this for any add-on shuttles or late routes that could have 

additional time and miles added to the routes and include the days of week. 

 

The District is providing the available information responsive to this request 

on separate sheets included in the Addendum providing the answers to these 

questions. ***SEE ATTACHED 

 

 

45. Page 54, item 5.  Can you clarify if the district allows the contractor drivers to bring 

their preschool or school aged children as ride-alongs?   

 

No, the District does not allow any students or adults for ride-alongs.  

 

46. Page 57, item 7.  Regarding tolls. Are you able to provide an estimate as to number 

of routes using tollway and estimated cost per route per day?   

 

Currently, there are a total of five routes daily that use toll roads.  

 

47. Page 67, item 25 regarding force majeure.  This states you will not compensate 

contractor unless required by law during a protracted closure or pandemic.  To 

verify does the district not want to compensate contractor during pandemic or 

protracted closure to assure employees are available when school resumes? 

 

The District cannot pay a contractor during pandemic or protracted closure unless 

authorized by the State Education Department. 

 

a. Did the district reimburse during COVID closures and if so, can you 

summarize any pro-rated or reduced payments?   

 

During COVID, the District did pay its full contract price, but the District 

was denied state aid and COVID related grant funds for this expense. 

 

48. Page 68, item 26, 3 regarding MWBE. Are there any minimum MWBE annual 

contracting requirements as part of this solicitation? 

 

Yes, 30% for transportation provided pursuant to McKinney-Vento.    

 

49. Page 75, regarding the late activity buses.  Can you clarify how many buses for 

each run 3:30/4/5:15?  How many days of week do they operate?   

 



Currently: 3:30 PM 4 total; 4:00 PM 8 total; 5:15 PM 4 total. For the 2025-26 school 

year, the District anticipates eliminating the 3:30 PM buses.  

 

50. Page 74-77.  Notes the route scheme volumes and associated changes between 

2023-24 and 2025-26.  The biggest changes being moving Church Street from tier 

one to two and eliminating the late activity buses in tier two.  Can you clarify why 

Church Street is changing?  Does the district plan to eliminate all late buses in the 

future?  Has these changes been shared and approved by the board?  

 

The District is evaluating changing Church Street Elementary School times to align 

with the other four elementary schools and run as part of the second tier. Right now, 

Church Street ES runs in the first tier. If this happens, the District plans to eliminate 

3:30 late buses. ***SEE ATTACHED 

 

51. Page 85, regarding field trips.  Can you please provide the average number of trip 

hours and miles so proposers can estimate cost of operating.   Please split by big 

bus and small bus for award tabulation. 

 

The District is providing the available information responsive to this request on 

separate sheets included in the Addendum providing the answers to these questions.  

***SEE ATTACHED 

 

52. Page 86. Regarding athletic trips. Can you please provide the average number of 

trip hours and miles so proposers can estimate cost of operating. Please split by big 

bus and small bus for award tabulation. 

 

The District is providing the available information responsive to this request on 

separate sheets included in the Addendum providing the answers to these questions.   

 

53. As it relates to fleet and electrification.  Has the district engaged in pursuing any 

grants or funding?  If you engaged with any consultants or industry experts on the 

matter, can you please provide a summary of arrangements and copies of 

consultative reports provided. 

 

The District has engaged in pursuing grants with its current provider but has not 

engaged with any consultants. 

 

54. Could the district provide a summary of all the non-performance damages 

charged/incurred by to the contractor for current and past two school years. 

 

Not sure of the relevance of this question.  The District will not provide this 

information.  

 

55. Can you please provide the current listing of vehicles provided by the current 

contractor.  Please include the vehicle age, seating capacity, configuration of 



wheelchair buses (seated and wheelchair capacity), if they require air-conditioning 

and if any are non-yellow buses or cars, age, etc.  

 

Not sure of the relevance of the age of the current provider’s buses and vehicles.  

The District’s requirements for vehicle age are stated in the RFP.  The District has 

provided the number of big buses, small buses/vans and wheelchair buses utilized 

during the current school year for its to and from school transportation in the 

existing appendices of the RFP.  

 

56. Can the district provide a log of the company’s represented and the attendees to the 

pre-bid conference? 

 

The sign-in sheet for the mandatory proposal meeting can be provided upon request 

after the meeting occurs. 

 

57. Do you require the contractor provide a parent tracker app or does the district utilize 

its own from its routing software connecting through contractor GPS system?  

 

Yes, the District is looking into providing a parent app.  

 

Information Requests –  The  District is not providing the information requested in the 

enumerated items below at this time as part of the RFP.  The District considers the 

information requests below collectively to be excessive and unnecessary for preparing a 

proposal to provide pupil transportation services to the District. 

1. Please provide a scan of any and all contracts or agreements pertaining for any 

contracted transportation services currently in effect and future time periods, 

including all exhibits, attachments, appendices, addendums, amendments, or 

modifications thereto for all current contractors.  Please provide documentation 

noting the unit rates in effect for the 23-24 and upcoming 2024-25 school year.   

2. Please provide a scan of the transportation invoices for any and all contracted 

transportation services including all line-item billing details and backup 

spreadsheets noting volumes.  Please provide invoices from April 2023, April 2024.   

Or if already requested and processed, please provide same month for multiple 

years. 

3. Please provide a scan of the summer school transportation invoices for any and all 

contracted transportation services including all line-item billing details and backup 

spreadsheets.  Please provide invoices from June 2023, July 2023, and August 

2023.   

4. Please provide a copy of the labor agreement, any amendments, or memorandums 

of understanding for current contractor(s) employees and any district employees 

performing transportation services that are unionized.  Please include any 

amendment letters, memorandums of understanding, or modifications thereto.   



5. Please provide a copy of the transportation line-item budget for the past two school 

years, the current year 2023-24, and for the coming 2024-25 school year. 

6. Given the district makes the routes:  We request that the district provide a digital 

copy in PDF form of the turn-by-turn directions including garage departure and 

return times and miles for all current routes (including regular education, special 

education, middays, and late runs) , as part of your information response in order 

for non-incumbent contractors to understand operating conditions and to formulate 

hypothetical routes for the bid response.  

 

We request turn by turn directions including garage departure and return times and 

miles for all current routes given the contractor is required to calculate live and 

dead time and miles.  

Without providing routing information we are unable to formulate mileage for 

pricing 

 

7. Please provide a copy of the Bus Metrics report sorted by bus exported to Microsoft 

Excel.   Or provide a report that shows the live time and total time and live and total 

miles by bus.   

 

If you have any questions regarding this addendum, please email me at: 

tonirusso@wpcsd.k12.ny.us    

 

Thank you, 

 

Toni Russo   
 

Toni Russo 

Purchasing Supervisor  

White Plains Public Schools 

5 Homeside Lane 

White Plains, NY 10605 
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